In the Supreme Court of the State of Revada

May 01 2024 01:41 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

KATE FELDMAN, an individual; STOP PREDATORY LENDING NV, a Nevada nonprofit corporation,

Appellants,

vs.

NEVADANS FOR FINANCIAL CHOICE, a Nevada Political Action Committee; CHRISTINA BAUER, an individual; FRANCISCO V. AGUILAR, in his official capacity as Nevada Secretary of State; DAILYPAY, INC., a Delaware Corporation; PREFERRED CAPITAL FUNDING-NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; ALLIANCE FOR RESPONSIBLE CONSUMER LEGAL FUNDING, an Illinois nonprofit corporation; ACTIVEHOURS, INC., a Delaware corporation; and STACY PRESS, an individual,

Respondents.

Case No.: 88526

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to N.R.A.P. 3A(b)(1) because it is an appeal from a final order resolving all claims presented to the district court, and pursuant to N.R.A.P. 3A(b)(3) because it is an appeal from an order granting an injunction. The final order was entered on April 16, 2024. The notice of appeal was filed on April 17, 2024. This appeal is timely because it was filed within thirty (30) days after the entry of the final judgment as N.R.A.P. 4(a)(1) requires.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by this Court pursuant to N.R.A.P. 17(a)(2) because it is a case involving a ballot or election question.

I. INTRODUCTION

The issue in this appeal has been sharpened to a very fine point by the district court. On January 5, 2024, Appellants Feldman and Stop Predatory Lending NV (collectively, "SPLNV") filed Initiative Petition S-01-2024 (the "Petition"), which sought to assist Nevada consumers by limiting interest rates on loans for borrowers and increase the exemptions and protections of assets for debtors. See Volume I of Appellants' Appendix ("AA") at 8–32.1 The approach was multi-pronged but with a single purpose: provide relief from the spiral of debt that traps many needy people into seeking high-interest loans that oftentimes subsequently end up in asset-draining collection proceedings. Four plaintiffs filed suits in district court against the Petition within the statutory challenge period, making a variety of claims but primarily asserting a single-subject violation. I AA 1-32; I AA 68-144; I AA 145-204; II AA 205–261; III AA 413–465.

Later on, on January 24, 2024, SPLNV filed a second initiative, S-03-2024, which pursued only the interest rate cap. III AA 449–465. The

¹ For the Court's convenience, citations to the Appellants' Appendix shall be cited as "[Vol. No.] AA [Page No.]".

measures were identical except for the excision of the asset-protection that had featured in the original Petition. *Compare* I AA 8–32 *with* III AA 449–465. Even the description of effect of the secondary, interest-caponly initiative was precisely the same as had been included in the original Petition, only without the portions describing the asset-protection provisions. *Id.* All four plaintiffs challenged the secondary initiative also, resulting in four separate district court case numbers. I AA 68–144; I AA 145–204; II AA 205–261; III AA 413–465.

After agreements regarding consolidation, briefing, and hearing, the district court heard oral argument on March 22, 2023, where it determined that the original Petition (S-01-2024) did, in its view, violate the single-subject rule with the inclusion of the asset-protection provisions, but that the interest-rate-only initiative (S-03-2024) complied with the legal requirements of both the single-subject rule² and

² As to the interest-rate only initiative (S-03-2024), the district court found that "that the primary purpose of the Petition is to limit interest rates on consumer loan transactions, and that all components of the Petition are functionally related and germane to that purpose." IV AA 777.

description of effect requirements.³

The issue on appeal here, therefore, is simple: Did the inclusion of asset-protection measures push the Petition beyond the boundary of what NRS 295.009(1), Nevada's single-subject rule, permits? Appellants here contend those inclusions did not create a single-subject problem, and that under this Court's jurisprudence stemming from *Helton v. Nevada Voters First PAC*, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 45, 512 P.3d 309 (2022), and, most recently, *Nevadans for Reprod. Freedom v. Washington*, 140 Nev. Adv. Op. 28, 2024 WL 1688083 (2024), the Petition satisfies the requirements of NRS 295.009(1) and should be permitted to move forward to the signature-gathering phase.

* *

Nevada lacks effective debt protections for people in need, the very people who—in times of exigency—resort to high-interest loans, and who,

The court further found that the second initiative's "description of effect is straightforward, succinct, under 200 words, and there is no basis for a finding of any argumentative language. The description proceeds, succinctly and directly, through (1) a general statement of the Petition's purpose; (2) a neutral and accurate statement of current law regarding interest rate limitations; (3) a description of the transactions to which the proposed cap would apply; and (4) a statement of enforcement aspects of the proposal." IV AA 779.

when repayment becomes a struggle, find themselves in collection proceedings that not only leave their assets vulnerable but make the cycle of debt so hard to escape. State law features no cap on interest rates, and provides inadequate asset exemptions for debtors who suffer from an inability to keep up with payments of interest rates that can reach **300** – **500% annually**. III AA 509.

This Petition would cap interest rates on consumer loans, as defined therein, at 36% annually. I AA 12. The Petition also features more generous protections of assets from collection than does current law, automatically protecting \$5,000 of savings in a personal bank account (up from \$400 now), and \$850 of wages in any workweek (up from \$369), as well as a portion of disposable earnings above that amount, from seizure for a debt. I AA 18–25. Those amounts would be indexed to increase periodically with inflation. I AA 26. Additionally, and complementing the operation of the Petition's framework generally, there are safeguards designed to prevent evasion of the Petition's terms by illicit structuring of transactions, or partnering with out-of-state lenders to violate Nevada law. I AA 9–18.

All the components of the Petition complement one another to achieve a single goal: ensuring Nevadans have better debt protections both on the front end and the back end of their indebtedness. The Petition will require financers to be more diligent about lending, and also will ensure that a consumer's last dime won't go towards paying off a high-interest loan in a cycle of repayment at spiraling rates. Nevada ballot measure history is replete with proposed measures with multiple *changes* to current law that do not violate the single-subject rule; *changes to existing law* do not equal *subjects* in Nevada Supreme Court jurisprudence. *See Helton*, 512 P.3d at 315 n.5. With this ballot measure, Nevadans will have the opportunity to decide for themselves if a 36% interest limit on debt and the greater protections for basic assets in debt collection proceedings is a policy they wish to adopt as law.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the district court erred in ruling that the Petition violated NRS 295.009(1)(a) and NRS 295.009(2), Nevada's single-subject rule for initiative petitions; and
- 2. Whether the Petition's description of effect is legally adequate, pursuant to NRS 295.009(1)(b).

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case turns on the proper interpretation of NRS 295.009, and the Petition. "Questions of law, including questions of constitutional

interpretation and statutory construction, are reviewed de novo." *Peck v. Zipf*, 133 Nev. 890, 892, 407 P.3d 775, 778 (2017) (cleaned up); *see also Helton*, 512 P.3d at 313 (applying de novo review to petition challenge).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 5, 2024, Kate Feldman filed the Petition with the Nevada Secretary of State. I AA 8–32. The Petition proposes to amend the Nevada Revised Statutes to include a new chapter 604D entitled the "Preventing Predatory Payday and Other Loans Act." *Id.* Ms. Feldman later filed second Petition, S-03-2024, on January 24, 2024, which proposes to enact the same "Preventing Predatory Payday and Other Loans Act," but omits provisions regarding collections exemptions included in the first Petition. III AA 449–465. This present appeal only concerns the first petition, Initiative Petition S-01-2024, which the district court determined violated Nevada's single-subject rule.

On January 26, 2024, Respondents Nevadans for Financial Choice and Christina Bauer (collectively, "Nevadans for Financial Choice") filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief challenging the legal sufficiency of Initiative Petition S-01-2024, pursuant to NRS 295.061, and submitted a Brief in Support of the Complaint. I AA 1–32; I AA 33–67. Subsequently, on February 14, Respondents Nevadans for Financial

Choice filed a First Amended Complaint timely adding Initiative Petition S-03-2024 to their challenge. III AA 413–465.

On January 29, 2024, Respondent DailyPay, Inc. ("DailyPay") filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief challenging the legal sufficiency of both Initiative Petition S-01-2024 and Initiative Petition S-03-2024, pursuant to NRS 295.061. I AA 68–144.

On January 29, 2024, Respondents Preferred Capital Funding-Nevada, LLC and Alliance for Responsible Consumer Legal Funding (collectively, "Preferred Capital") filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief challenging the legal sufficiency of both Initiative Petition S-01-2024 and Initiative Petition S-03-2024, pursuant to NRS 295.061. I AA 145–204.

On February 13, 2024, Respondents ActiveHours, Inc. and Stacy Press (collectively, "ActiveHours") filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief challenging the legal sufficiency of Initiative Petition S-03-2024, pursuant to NRS 295.061. II AA 205–261

On or about February 22, 2024, the parties stipulated to, and the district court ordered, that the filed suits be consolidated into one action challenging the two petitions, to make the matter more efficient in terms of judicial economy and to process the matters expeditiously. III AA 470–

479. The parties also stipulated to the intervention of Ms. Feldman and Stop Predatory Lending NV, a Nevada nonprofit corporation, as appropriate and so that each case featured the same initiative proponents. *Id.* A briefing schedule was also agreed to. *Id.* After briefing, the district court held a hearing on the consolidated matters on March 22, 2024. The district court made oral pronouncement of its rulings from the bench, and tasked each side with preparing orders reflecting same, declaring S-01-2004 to be invalid due to single-subject concerns, but that S-03-2004 was legally sufficient and could move forward to gather signatures. IV AA 710–716.

On April 15, 2024, the district court issued its order declaring that Petition S-01-2024 was invalid under Nevada law and enjoining the Nevada Secretary of State from permitting the Petition from being circulated for signatures, and the order was promptly entered on April 16, 2024. IV AA 763–772; IV AA 799–812. Appellants timely filed their appeal on April 16, 2024. IV AA 813–828. The district court's decision to permit Petition S-03-2024 to proceed was appealed (so far) by DailyPay and Nevadans for Financial Choice, and the appeal was docketed in this Court on April 26, 2024. See Dailypay Inc. v. Aguilar, Nev. Sup. Crt. Case No. 88557. The two appeals are separate matters before this Court, while

the remaining plaintiffs below consider their options as to whether to seek appellate review.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standard Under NRS 295.009(1)

Initiative is the power of the people to propose bills and laws and to enact or reject them at the polls, independent of the legislative assembly. See Rea v. City of Reno, 76 Nev. 483, 486, 357 P.2d 585, 586 (1960). The constitutional rights of Nevada to propose initiatives and referenda are sacrosanct, and courts are charged with preserving those rights in every way they can. See, generally, Nev. Const. art. 19. And, just as in the case of regular legislation, "[i]n determining whether a ballot initiative proponent has complied with NRS 295.009, it is not the function of this court to judge the wisdom of the proposed initiative." Helton, 512 P.3d at 316 (quoting Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs, 129 Nev. 35, 41, 293 P.3d 874, 878 (2013)). The Nevada Supreme Court "has consistently held that the initiative powers granted to Nevada's electorate are broad." We People Nevada ex rel. Angle v. Miller, 124 Nev. 874, 886, 192 P.3d 1166, 1174 (2008). Furthermore, the Court exercises "every effort to sustain and preserve the people's constitutional right" under Article 19. Id.

Nevada law requires that any initiative petition "[e]mbrace but one subject and matters necessarily connected therewith and pertaining thereto." NRS 295.009(1)(a). "The single-subject requirement 'facilitates the initiative process by preventing petition drafters from circulating confusing petitions that address multiple subjects." *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314 (quoting *Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rights, Inc. v. Heller*, 122 Nev. at 902).

Court's precedents. "In considering single-subject challenges, the court must first determine the initiative's purpose or subject[.]" *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314. "To determine the initiative's purpose or subject," courts "look[] to its textual language and the proponents' arguments," as well as "whether the description of effect articulates an overarching purpose and explains how provisions relate to a single subject." *Id.* (quoting *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council*, 125 Nev. 165, 180, 208 P.3d 429, 439 (2009)).

Once an initiative's single-subject has been identified, courts must "then determine if each provision is functionally related and germane to each other and the initiative's purpose or subject." *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314. Significantly, "even if an initiative petition proposes more than one

change to Nevada law, it may still meet the single-subject requirement, provided that the proposed changes are functionally related and germane to each other and a single subject." *Id.*, 512 P.3d at 312.

B. The District Court's Order

The district court's order took issue with two aspects of the Petition, for single-subject purposes. The first was its concern that the Petition embraced "at least two disparate subjects in purporting to establish [] maximum interest rates charged to consumers, and shield [] more of people's savings and earnings from garnishment than under current law." IV AA 769. These aspects had, in the court's understanding, "no nexus," and are neither "functionally related and germane," nor "necessarily connected." IV AA 770. The court went on to state that "the Petition's proposed changes concerning garnishment, writs of execution, ... and other proposed changes, have nothing to do with the lending of money at an unconscionable or exorbitant rate of interest." *Id.* A debtor, the court reasoned, "may be subject to garnishment for any number of

⁴ The Order notes a "first" and "second" instance in its discussion, but on examination they are both really issues of functional relation and germaneness. The other area of concern was excessive generality of the subject area. IV AA 769–770.

reasons, including for unpaid debts that may or may not be subject to any interest rate at all[.]" Id.5

Secondly, the district court considered better debt protections to be "excessively generalized subject matter that, if adopted, would effectively nullify the single-subject rule." IV AA 770–771. "While the policy goal of ensuring Nevadans have better debt protections may be laudable," the court concluded, "those protections are distinct from proposed laws affecting the act of lending." IV AA 771.

The provisions of the Reproductive Freedom Amendment at issue in the Court's recent decision may help entire, extended families beyond those who avail themselves directly of reproductive services. They may permit better family planning, resulting in improved economic standing, for example. The proponents of ranked-choice voting tout its virtues as extending far beyond what its ballot mechanics will be. These follow-on, or spillover, effects are incidental benefits of the core policies, not separate subjects under Nevada jurisprudence.

⁵ At hearing, the district court raised the concern that the asset protection provisions would apply to debtors outside of the consumer loan context—for instance, a private car loan between individuals that was unpaid and in default. See IV AA 669–671. But the fact that asset protections in collections might help Nevadans beyond consumer loans is no more grounds for finding an additional subject under NRS 295.009(1) than the fact that a cap on interest rates will help those individuals who never find themselves in collections proceedings because they cannot pay off their loans.

The district court's concerns are well-taken, but they belie an issue of perspective. Lenders, such as those in this pool of Respondents, may certainly consider the changes in law proposed here to be distinct from one another. But from a consumer's point of view, especially those people experiencing the pressing need that high-interest lenders service, the rate of interest combined with the levels of exposure and vulnerability that current asset-protection statutes create all form part of the dangerous spiral of modern indebtedness. A conclusion that triple-digit interest rates and the scramble to keep the rent paid or food on the table because garnishment or collections efforts leave so much unprotected are unrelated may look differently from the other side of the creditor-debtor divide.

C. The Petition Satisfies The Single-Subject Rule

1. The provisions of the Petition are all functionally related and germane to one another

Here, the Petition's primary purpose is an overall program of consumer debt relief, or as the district court put it, better debt protections, and all components of the measure are functionally related and germane to alleviating the worst effects of our modern culture of consumer debt, especially the sort of debt that consumers take on due to immediate needs, and which therefore permit lenders to take advantage of Nevada's

current lack of an interest rate cap. Relatedly, permitting Nevada consumers to retain and protect more of their assets when debt collection threatens because the spiral of one's debt and need has accelerated, will help Nevadans avoid some of the issues that cause them to enter into debt. The overall program is clear in its primary purpose and interconnected in its parts: limit consumer interest rates on loans, as defined, to a still-generous 36%, and protect more assets when creditors seek collection. In combination, these provisions provide consumers with an improved framework of protections on both the front and back ends of the debtor experience.

It cannot be said that an interest rate cap on consumer loans would not result in better debt protections for Nevadans; axiomatically, consumers would pay less in interest, even when an emergency financial situation places them at a lender's mercy. Further, it can hardly be gainsaid that the ability to preserve a greater portion of one's assets in collection proceedings would *also* provide better debt protections. In fact, the ability to protect \$5,000 in personal savings—if one is lucky enough to have it—or having \$850 in weekly wages protected rather than \$369 may forestall the need to enter and remain in the debt spiral that is the target of this proposal. The functional relationship between need, debt,

and collections does not, when one puts it that way, seem at all controversial.

The Petition's text and description of effect both confirm its primary purpose. As the description of effect explains, the Petition "addresses high-interest lending practices by establishing maximum interest rates charged to consumers, and shields more of people's savings and earnings from garnishment than under current law." I AA 27. The description of effect therefore "articulates an overarching purpose" that is neither undermined nor contradicted by any of the Petition's other provisions. *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314.

This Court's decision in *Helton* demonstrates that the Respondents below, and the district court, sliced matters far too thin in their conceptions of what is a "subject." In *Helton*, the initiative's "single subject" was "the *framework* by which specified officeholders are presented to voters and elected." *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314. That the provisions were separate (and even arguably independent, as the Court noted in its opinion) was not material to a single-subject analysis because the provisions had a functional relationship to one another in achieving the purpose of the initiative generally. Obviously, in *Helton*, each aspect of the new rules governing primary elections did not relate directly to

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