IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KATE FELDMAN, an individual; AND STOP PREDATORY LENDING NV, a Nevada nonprofit corporation,

Appellants,

VS.

FRANCISCO V. AGUILAR, in his official capacity as Nevada Secretary of State;
NEVADANS FOR FINANCIAL CHOICE, a
Nevada Political Action Committee;
CHRISTINA BAUER, an individual;
DAILYPAY, INC., a Delaware Corporation;
PREFERRED CAPITAL FUNDINGNEVADA, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability
Company; AND ALLIANCE FOR
RESPONSIBLE CONSUMER LEGAL
FUNDING, an Illinois Nonprofit Corporation
Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Case No. 8852May 10 2024 11:47 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
District Court Electrof Supreme Court
Lead Case No.: 24 OC 00018
1B

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Initiative's purpose or subject is preventing predatory lending—not an overall program of consumer debt relief. The purpose or subject is easy to discern. The Initiative *expressly tells us*:

The Nevada Revised Statutes are hereby amended by adding . . . Chapter 604D: [the] *Preventing Predatory Payday and Other Loans Act*[, which] shall be liberally construed *to achieve* <u>its purposes</u>, which are combatting predatory payday lending and other high-cost loans; ensuring that out-of-state lenders cannot flout Nevada law by making payday loans, other loans, or transactions subject to this chapter at unlawful rates . . .; and protecting law-abiding lenders from unfair competition by <u>predatory</u>, out-of-state entities.

(See I AA at 161 (emphasis added).)

The Description of Effect echoes the Initiative's *overarching* purpose of *preventing* predatory lending.

SPLNV argues that the Initiative's primary purpose is "an overall program of consumer debt relief." But this purported subject finds no support in the Initiative's or Description of Effect's actual language. Indeed, the phrase "consumer debt relief" is nowhere to be found in the language of *either* the Initiative or the Description of Effect. The subject should be clear from the Initiative petition's textual language and description of effect. Here, voters could not possibly discern that the Initiative's *primary purpose* is actually an overall program of consumer debt relief.

Appellants' purported single subject is an "excessively general" pretext—an after-the-fact justification to mask the multifarious and distinct subjects the Initiative impermissibly covers.

SPLNV contends that the Initiative's single subject is an overall program of consumer debt relief. However, their expansive statutory scheme does not confine itself, merely, to *consumer* debt relief. The statute seeks to regulate debt, in general, as well as transactions, like litigation funding, which do not involve consumer loans or consumer debt.

The Initiative actually encompasses asset protection for *all* judgment debtors; this is much wider *debt* relief. An overall program of "debt relief," however, is plainly an excessively general subject. Even the arguably narrower subject of "consumer" debt relief could easily cover (beyond interest-rate caps and asset protection) such distinct and expansive topics as bankruptcy protection and tax reform.

Appellant's "overall program of consumer debt relief" casts a vastly wide net. In truth, SPLNV is attempting to circumvent the single-subject rule by impermissibly phrasing the Initiative's purpose or subject in terms of excessive generality.

The Initiative's provisions are not all functionally related and germane to the Initiative's true purpose of preventing predatory lending. The asset protection

provision does not serve this subject. By SPLNV's own admission, the goal of that provision is to *relieve existing* consumer debt. The proposed changes in no way *prevent* the predatory lending that creates the debt in the first place. This is accomplished through the rate caps. The Initiative also proposes changes to consumer litigation funding transactions under NRS 604C. SPLNV seeks to impose a 36% rate cap. However, consumer litigation funding does not involve lending or the making of a loan; nor is it predatory. Accordingly, the proposed changes to NRS 604C do not serve the subject of preventing predatory lending.

Even if the Court were to adopt SPLNV's proposed single-subject of "an overall program of consumer debt relief," the provisions are still not all functionally related and germane to even this subject. The proposed rate cap on consumer litigation funding transactions does not serve the purpose of consumer debt relief. Litigation funding does not create consumer debt. The 604C rate cap also does not work together with the asset protection provision to relieve consumer debt; it is not the case that the effectiveness of the asset protection provision would be limited without the change to 604C. These two changes (asset protection and the 604C rate cap) are not connected in any way and do not pertain to each other and to the subject of an overall program of consumer debt relief.

In addition, the proposed asset protection provision is expansive in scope and impacts virtually all judgment collections—even collection that is completely

unrelated to *consumer* debt. The provision increases the exemptions from execution for virtually all judgment debtors. This is *general* debt relief and far exceeds the scope of what could be classified as *consumer* debt relief. The Initiative's asset protection provision has far reaching impact on judgment collection that has nothing to do with the purported subject of consumer debt relief.

The Initiative embraces more than one subject in violation of NRS 295.009's single-subject requirement. If, however, this Court determines that the Initiative complies with the single-subject rule, then the sufficiency of the Description of Effect needs to be addressed. The case should be remanded to the District Court for this determination.

SPLNV's purported single subject is "an overall program of consumer debt relief"; however, this overarching purpose cannot be gleaned from the Description of Effect. Accordingly, the Description of Effect does not provide a "straightforward" summary of what the Initiative is designed to achieve. The Description of Effect also fails to provide a straightforward summary of how the Initiative intends to reach the goal of consumer debt relief. The description fails to explain that the Initiative will modify consumer litigation funding transactions—which do not involve predatory loans and do not contribute to consumer debt. Voters will have no idea that their access to litigation funding could be impacted.

SPLNV's Description of Effect is legally insufficient under NRS 295.009(1)(b) because it fails to provide a straightforward summary of the Initiative's goals and how it intends to achieve those goals.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Initiative's purpose or subject is preventing predatory lending—not an overall program of consumer debt relief.

Under Nevada law, "[e]ach petition for initiative or referendum must . . . [e]mbrace but one subject and matters necessarily connected therewith and pertaining thereto." NRS 295.009(1). A petition meets this single-subject requirement if its provisions "are functionally related and germane to each other in a way that provides sufficient notice of the general subject of, and of the interests likely to be affected by, the proposed initiative." NRS 295.009(2).

In applying these provisions, the "preliminary inquiry . . . is whether the initiative's parts are 'functionally related' and 'germane' to each other." *Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rights, Inc. v. Heller (NPPRI)*, 122 Nev. 894, 907, 141 P.3d 1235, 1243 (2006). "To answer that question, the court must first determine the initiative's overarching purpose or subject and then determine if each provision is functionally related and germane to that purpose or subject." *Nevadans for Reprod. Freedom v. Washington*, No. 87681, 2024 Nev. LEXIS 19, at *9; 140 Nev. Adv. Rep. 28 (April 18, 2024) (en banc). "A subject is the overall thing being discussed[.]" *Helton v. Nev. Voters First Pac*, 512 P.3d 309, 315 n.5, 138 Nev. Adv. Rep. 45 (Nev. 2022)

(citing *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019) (defining "subject" as "[t]he matter of concern over which something is created")).

"To determine the initiative's purpose or subject, th[e] court looks to its textual language and the proponents' arguments." *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council of Las Vegas*, 125 Nev. 165, 180, 208 P.3d 429, 439 (2009). "The court also will look at whether the description of effect articulates an overarching purpose and explains how provisions relate to a single subject." *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 315.

Here, the Initiative's purpose or subject is easy to discern. The Initiative *expressly tells us*:

The Nevada Revised Statutes are hereby amended by adding . . . Chapter 604D: [the] *Preventing Predatory Payday and Other Loans Act*[, which] shall be liberally construed *to achieve its purposes*, *which are combatting predatory payday lending and other high-cost loans*; ensuring that out-of-state lenders cannot flout Nevada law by making payday loans, other loans, or transactions subject to this chapter at unlawful rates . . . ; and protecting law-abiding lenders from unfair competition by **predatory**, out-of-state entities.⁷

(See I AA at 161 (emphasis added).)

13

⁷ Notably, the parties stipulated to the intervention of "Stop Predatory Lending NV"—the Nevada nonprofit corporation advocating for the passage of the Initiative. (*See* III AA at 470–479.) The acronym Appellants have chosen to collectively describe themselves, SPLNV, stands for Stop Predatory Lending NV. (*See* Apps.' Opening Br. ("AOB") at 1.)

The Description of Effect echoes the Initiative's *overarching* purpose of *preventing predatory lending*. The introductory paragraph leads with the statement: "This measure *addresses* high-interest lending practices by establishing maximum interest rates charged to consumers, *and shields* more of people's savings and earnings from garnishment than under current law." (*See* I AA at 179 (emphasis added).) Thus, the Initiative does two things: (1) it "addresses high-interest lending practices by establishing maximum interest rates charged to consumers"; and (2) it "shields more of people's savings and earnings from garnishment".

The protection of assets—"and shields"—is a secondary, seemingly unrelated, concept that is mentioned *after* the initial goal of addressing high-interest lending practices.⁸

The next paragraph focuses, again, on high-interest lending: "Currently, most consumer loans have no interest rate cap. The proposed cap would set a maximum interest rate of 36% annually on the unpaid balance of the amount financed. . . ." (See I AA at 179.) The next paragraph discusses the interest rate cap: "The initiative also prohibits evading the interest rate cap by structuring transactions to mask their nature as loans covered by this measure, or partnering with out-of-state lenders to violate the rate cap." *Id.* The fourth—and last—paragraph turns to the topic of asset

⁸ Notably, the lending affects "consumers"—while the garnishment impacts "people", a much broader group.

protection: "Additionally, the initiative automatically protects [certain savings, wages and disposable earnings] . . . from seizure for a debt." *Id*.

The Description of Effect is comprised of 180 total words; 111 of them—almost two-thirds—are devoted to the subject of high-interest lending.

Based upon the Initiative's express statement of purpose, and the Description of Effect's main focus, preventing predatory lending is the Initiative's subject: the overarching purpose, matter of concern, or thing being discussed.

SPLNV argues, however, that the Initiative's primary purpose is "an overall program of consumer debt relief[.]" (AOB at 13 (emphasis in the original).) But this purported subject finds no support in the Initiative's or Description of Effect's actual language. The proposed statute is titled the "Preventing Predatory Payday and Prevention "stop[s] something from happening[.]" Other Loans Act." See Definition, Dictionary.Cambridge.org, Preventing https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/prevent?q=preventing visited May 10, 2024). The preventing of predatory lending is accomplished through the Initiative's proposed 36% rate cap. Prevention is prospective. "Relief" is not. Relief addresses an existing need. See Relief Definition, Dictionary. Cambridge.org, https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/relief (last visited May 10, 2024) (defining "relief" as "food, money, or services that provide help for people in need"); also Relief Definition, OED.com, see

https://www.oed.com/dictionary/relief_n2?tab=meaning_and_use (last visited May 10, 2024) ("the act of removing or reducing pain, worry, etc."). The concepts of prevention and relief are opposites—hence, the saying: "An ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure." Accordingly, the statute's title in no way suggests an overall program of consumer debt relief.

Consistent with its title, the statute's *stated* purpose is "combatting predatory payday lending and other high-cost loans[.]" (*See* I AA at 161). The focus is on attacking the *lending*, the loans themselves—the *creation* of high-interest consumer debt. The stated goal has nothing to do with *relieving* consumers from their high-interest debt – after the fact.

Indeed, the phrase "consumer debt relief" is nowhere to be found in the actual language of *either* the Initiative or the Description of Effect. Even in the Description of Effect, the shielding of assets is to protect "people" in general—not specifically "consumers". It protects assets "from seizure for a debt"—not just a consumer debt. (*See* I AA at 179.)

"[T]he subject should be clear from the initiative petition's textual language and description of effect." *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 319 (Cadish, J., dissenting). Here, voters could not possibly discern that the Initiative's *primary purpose* is actually an overall program of consumer debt relief.

B. Appellants' purported single subject is an "excessively general" pretext.

SPLNV's purported single subject is an after-the-fact justification to "mask[] the multifarious and distinct subjects [the] initiative impermissibly covers." *Prevent Sanctuary Cities v. Haley*, 2018 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 442, at *7 (unpublished disposition). However, "an initiative proponent may not circumvent the single-subject rule by phrasing the proposed law's purpose or object in terms of 'excessive generality.'" *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm.*, 125 Nev. at 181, 208 P.3d at 439. The rule "forbids joining disparate provisions which appear germane only to topics of excessive generality[.]" *Id.* (quoting *Harbor v. Deukmejian*, 43 Cal. 3d 1078, 240 Cal. Rptr. 569, 742 P.2d 1290, 1303 (Cal. 1987) (quoting *Brosnahan v. Brown*, 32 Cal. 3d 236, 186 Cal. Rptr. 30, 651 P.2d 274, 284 (Cal. 1982))).

SPLNV contends that the Initiative's single subject is "an overall program of consumer debt relief[.]" (AOB at 13 (emphasis in the original).) However, their expansive statutory scheme does not confine itself, merely, to consumer debt relief. The statute seeks to regulate debt, in general, as well as transactions, like litigation funding, which do not involve consumer loans or consumer debt.

The Initiative provides "greater protections for basic assets in debt collection proceedings[.]" (AOB at 5.) But these garnishment proceedings are not limited to judgments arising from consumer debt. The proposed changes (increased exemptions from execution) to the enforcement of judgments statute, NRS Chapter 21, pertain to virtually all personal judgment debtors, judgment creditors and types

of judgments. (See I AA 170–178). The changes are not restricted to judgment debtors who accumulated high-interest consumer debt, or predatory judgment creditors seeking to enforce predatory loans. Instead, the enhanced exemptions restrict collection on judgments that cover the universe of litigable claims⁹—even tort claims.¹⁰

SPLNV's proposed statutory scheme also seeks to regulate litigation funding transactions—which are not loans and do not create consumer debt. *See* discussion, *infra*, at pages 21-24. Accordingly, under the guise of "consumer debt relief," SPLNV also seeks to regulate general debt and even non-debt transactions.

In Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm., this Court found the purported single subject of "voter approval of use of taxpayer funds to finance large new development projects" excessively general where the initiative was "not limited to the financing of 'large new development projects' but instead encompasse[d] . . . adopting and amending redevelopment plans." 125 Nev. at 181, 208 P.3d at 440. In

_

⁹ Consumer debt constitutes a miniscule share of the sum of judgments impacted by the proposed changes to Chapter 21. Contrary to SPLNV's assertions, these unrelated judgments are not experiencing merely a "follow-on" or "spillover" effect, (AOB at 12 n.5); judgment collection, in general, is the direct target of their Initiative.

¹⁰ Even the poor—which SPLNV seeks to protect—will be restricted from collecting on any personal-injury judgments they obtain. How does this promote consumer debt relief?

other words, the *true* subject was more akin to simply "voter approval," which the California Supreme Court had held was an excessively general subject. *Id*.

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